IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 88,562

GEORGE PORTER, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

AMY C. SETTLEMIRE Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0788724

LINDA McDERMOTT Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 0102857

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 405 N. Reo Street Suite 150 Tampa, FL 33609-1004 (813) 871-7900

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit,
Brevard County, entered the judgments of conviction and sentence
under consideration. Mr. Porter was charged by indictment dated
October 28, 1986, for the first degree murders of his ex-lover,
Evelyn Williams, her boyfriend and other related offenses (R.
2578-79).

The record does not contain any proceeding at which Mr. Porter initially requested to represent himself. The only pretrial hearing contained in the record are hearings conducted February 25, 1987 (R. 2473), March 13, 1987 (R. 2495), November 20, 1987 (R. 2506), November 24, 1987 (R. 1544), and November 30, 1987 (R. 1569). At the February and March hearings, Mr. Porter was represented by Assistant Public Defender Brian Onek; at the November hearings, Mr. Porter appeared pro se. No request by him to do so appears in the record.

Mr. Porter was initially represented by the Public Defender's Office, whose motion to withdraw as counsel was granted on March 17, 1987 (R. 2642). Throughout May and June of 1987, Mr. Porter made numerous requests for assistance to the Public Defender's Office. On June 1, 1987, Mr. Porter filed several <u>pro se</u> motions (R. 2645-59), which had been provided to him by the Public Defender's Office.

On June 17, 1987, Sam Bardwell entered an appearance as Mr. Porter's counsel (R. 2660). On June 22, 1987, Mr. Bardwell, the State, and Judge Antoon signed a "stipulation" that Mr. Bardwell

was "full counsel" for Mr. Porter (R. 2661). The record reflects no other action regarding Mr. Porter's counsel until the November 20, 1987, hearing at which Mr. Porter appeared <u>pro</u> <u>se</u>.

As his jury trial began, Mr. Porter was representing himself. Throughout the guilt phase Mr. Porter became increasingly agitated about his case. Suddenly, in the midst of his jury trial, Mr. Porter pled guilty to all charges (R. 1523). After entering the guilty pleas, Mr. Porter attempted suicide twice by throwing himself off a second story walkway in the county jail (R. 1653-1699).

Thereafter, Mr. Porter attempted to withdraw his guilty pleas on the basis that they were made while he was under the threat that his family was in danger. The court denied his motion to withdraw the guilty pleas and continued on to penalty phase with standby counsel now acting as defense counsel (R. 1654, 1780, 1781).

After a penalty phase conducted exclusively by Mr. Bardwell, the jury recommended the death sentence (R. 2273). On March 4, 1988, the trial court imposed, <u>inter alia</u>, a sentence of death on one count of first-degree murder and a sentence of life imprisonment on the other count of first-degree murder (R. 2452-53).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Porter's convictions and sentences. <u>Porter v. State</u>, 564 So. 2d 1060 (Fla. 1990). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on February 19, 1991. <u>Porter v. Florida</u>, 111 S. Ct. 1024 (1991).

Mr. Porter, in compliance with a demand by the Governor of the State of Florida, initiated his Rule 3.850 motion eight months early on June 22, 1992 (PC-R.21-32). The initial Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence with Special Request for Leave to Amend specifically pled that it was incomplete due to the failure of state agencies to comply fully with Chapter 119 (PC-R. 21-32).

On February 15, 1993, the circuit court granted leave to amend the initial 3.850 motion within 60 days of the date that all documents were produced (PC-R. 80-82). Subsequently, an Amended Motion to Vacate was filed on June 28, 1993. The Amended Motion set out detailed claims for relief including issues such as competence, Brady violations, ineffective assistance of standby counsel, and prosecutorial misconduct by the state (PC-R. 7-183). The motion was verified by Mr. Porter's attorney on behalf of his incompetent client. On August 18, 1993, the court summarily denied the motion because the oath was not signed by Mr. Porter himself (PC-R. 186-89).

A Motion to Reconsider Order Denying Defendant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief was filed with another Amended Motion to Vacate which was verified by Mr. Porter himself (PC-R. 1-6). Even though the motion had been verified by Mr. Porter, the circuit court summarily denied the Motion to Reconsider and the Amended Motion to Vacate without an evidentiary hearing (PC-R. 193-218). Notice of Appeal timely followed on October 5, 1993 (PC-R. 218-219). After the State conceded that the circuit

court's denial of Mr. Porter's amended Rule 3.850 motion was without prejudice and that Mr. Porter could simply file a verified pleading, this Court dismissed Mr. Porter's appeal and remanded Mr. Porter's case to the circuit court.

Following remand, Mr. Porter filed another verified amended Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R. 1). The lower court held a <u>Huff</u> hearing on May 22, 1995. Thereafter, the lower court entered an order denying all but two (2) of Mr. Porter's claims (PC-R2. 322-354).

On January 4-5, 1996, the circuit court held a hearing on two issues: (1) whether Mr. Porter received ineffective assistance of counsel regarding counsel's failure to pursue mental health evaluations and (2) whether Mr. Porter received ineffective assistance of counsel regarding counsel's failure to present matters in mitigation.

On May 10, 1996, the lower court denied Mr. Porter relief (PC-R2. 1203-15). Notice of Appeal timely followed on July 15, 1996.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. At the sentencing phase of his trial, Mr. Porter was denied effective assistance of counsel. As a result, counsel's performance was deficient and Mr. Porter's death sentence is unreliable as a consequence.
- 2. Mr. Porter is entitled to another <u>Huff</u> hearing on the claims he raised in his Rule 3.850 motion. The trial court erred in summarily denying these claims without allowing Mr. Porter the benefit of argument on his claims contrary to <u>Huff v. State</u>.

- 3A. Due to omissions in the record on appeal, Mr. Porter has been denied a proper direct appeal from his judgment of conviction and a proper appeal from his sentence of death contrary to the U.S. and Florida Constitutions. Mr. Porter and collateral counsel cannot effectively evaluate and raise claims based on this defective record.
- 3B. Mr. Porter was incompetent to stand trial and undergo capital sentencing. The trial court failed in its duty to conduct an adversarial hearing on Mr. Porter's competency despite clear indications by the state attorney and court-appointed mental health experts that Mr. Porter was incompetent.
- 3C. Mr. Porter's constitutional rights were violated because an adequate and thorough <u>Faretta</u> hearing, that was required to ensure that Mr. Porter was competent to make a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel, was not conducted. Mr. Porter could not make a voluntary, knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel because he was incompetent.
- 3D. Mr. Porter's right to a reliable, fair and individualized sentencing proceeding was denied because the mental health experts who evaluated him failed to conduct professionally competent and appropriate evaluations. Defense counsel, likewise, failed to render effective assistance of counsel resulting in proceedings at which Mr. Porter was allowed to proceed <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> and waive his right to counsel when he was incompetent.

- 3E. Because the state withheld evidence which was material and exculpatory in nature and/or presented misleading evidence, Mr. Porter was deprived of his right to due process under the U.S. and Florida Constitutions. Interference by the trial court and standby counsel made it impossible for Mr. Porter to effectively represent himself during guilt phase and prevented Mr. Porter from adequately investigating or preparing to defend his case and challenge the state's evidence. A full adversarial testing could not occur due to the state's omissions and the trial court's interference.
- 4. Mr. Porter's death sentence was fundamentally unfair and unreliable because of the introduction of non-statutory aggravating factors and the state's arguments upon those factors. Defense counsel's failure to object or argue effectively against these non-statutory aggravating factors was ineffective assistance which prejudiced Mr. Porter.
- 5. The penalty phase jury instructions were incorrect under Florida law because they unconstitutionally shifted the burden to Mr. Porter to prove that death was inappropriate. The trial court used this presumption of death to sentence Mr. Porter to die. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object or argue this issue. The resulting prejudice to Mr. Porter is manifest.
- 6. Mr. Porter's death sentence was tainted by unconstitutionally vague and overbroad instructions to the jury and by improper application of the statutory aggravators of

"heinous, atrocious or cruel", "cold, calculated and premeditated", "prior violent felony", and "during the course of a felony" contrary to the holdings in Espinosa v. Florida and Richmond v. Lewis, and in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.

- 7. Mr. Porter was denied his rights under the sixth, eighth and fourteenth amendments to the U.S. Constitution when his death sentence rests upon an unconstitutional automatic aggravating circumstance. Defense counsel's failure to object to this aggravating circumstance was ineffective assistance of counsel.
- 8. Mr. Porter's judge failed to consider mitigating factors which are clearly set out in the record in violation of the eighth and fourteenth amendments.
- 9. In penalty phase of trial, the prosecutor's argument was improper and his inflammatory comments rendered Mr. Porter's death sentence fundamentally unfair and unreliable.

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. PORTER RELIEF ON HIS CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL FAILED TO PROVIDE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE PENALTY PHASE.

A. INTRODUCTION

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held that counsel has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversary testing process. <u>Id</u>, at 688. Specifically, counsel has a duty to investigate in order to make the adversarial testing process work in the particular case. <u>Id</u>. at 690.

Beyond the guilt-innocence stage, defense counsel must discharge very significant constitutional responsibilities at the sentencing phase of a capital trial. The United States Supreme Court has held that in a capital case, "accurate sentencing information is an indispensable prerequisite to a reasoned determination of whether a defendant shall live or die [made] by a jury of people who may have never made a sentencing decision."

Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 190 (1976) (plurality opinion).

In Gregg and its companion cases, the Court emphasized the importance of focusing the sentencer's attention on "the particularized characteristics of the individual defendant." Id. at 206. See also Roberts v. Louisiana, 428 U.S. 325 (1976);

Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280 (1976).

Counsel's highest duty is the duty to investigate and prepare. Where counsel does not fulfill that duty, the defendant

is denied a fair adversarial testing process and the proceedings' results are rendered unreliable.

No tactical motive can be ascribed to an attorney whose omissions are based on ignorance, see Brewer v. Aiken, 935 F.2d 850 (7th Cir. 1991), or on the failure to properly investigate or prepare. See Kenley v. Armontrout, 937 F.2d 1298 (8th Cir. 1991); Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365 (1986). Mr. Porter's sentence of death is the resulting prejudice. It cannot be said that there is no reasonable probability that the results of the sentencing phase of the trial would have been different if the evidence discussed below had been presented to the sentencer. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. The key aspect of the penalty phase is that the sentence be individualized, focused on the particularized characteristics of the individual defendant. Penry v. Lynaugh, 488 U.S. 74 (1989); Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153 (1976). This did not occur in Mr. Porter's case.

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Porter proved both that trial counsel's performance was deficient and that prejudice resulted. Rule 3.850 relief is appropriate.

B. COUNSEL FAILED TO DEVELOP MITIGATION

1. Military service

Trial counsel failed to present any evidence regarding Mr.

Porter's military service. At the evidentiary hearing

documentary and testimonial evidence was introduced which

established that George Porter, Jr. is a war hero. Mr. Porter

served his country and fought bravely in the Korean War.

Mr. Porter's military records indicate that he enlisted in the U.S. Army at 16¹ years of age, on August 30, 1949 (Defense Exhibit 3). He was awarded the National Defense Service Medal for enlisting in time of conflict. <u>Id</u>. He also was awarded the United Nations Service Medal for serving with United Nations forces in the Korean conflict. Id.

Mr. Porter also earned several combat medals. Those awards include the Korean Service Medal with three (3) Bronze Service Stars. <u>Id</u>. To be awarded this medal Mr. Porter had to meet the following criteria:

Korean Service Medal. Awarded for combat service within the Korean Theater between 27 June 1950 and 27 July 1953, one bronze service star for each campaign under any of the following conditions:

- (1) Assigned or attached to and present for duty with a unit during the period in which it participated in combat.
- (2) Under orders in the combat zone, in addition, meets any of the following requirements:
- (a) Awarded a combat decoration.
- (b) Furnished a certificate by a commanding general of a corps, higher unit, or independent force that he actually participated in combat.
- (c) Served at a normal post of duty (as contrasted to occupying the

¹ His birth certificate shows his actual date of birth to be February 18, 1933, not 1932 as shown on his DD-214. His mother misrepresented his age and signed for him to enlist when he was actually only 16 years old.

status of an inspector, observer, or visitor).

(3) Was an evader or escapee in the combat zone or recovered from a prisoner of war status in the combat zone during the time limitations of the campaign. Prisoners of war will be accorded credit for the time spent in confinement or while otherwise in restraint under enemy control.²

It is noted above that the Bronze Stars with the Korean Service Medal are for subsequent awards, a total of three times Mr.

Porter served in significant campaigns.

Another award bestowed upon Mr. Porter is the Combat

Infantryman's Badge, which is a unique award earned only by those
who bear the brunt of combat -- the infantry. Mr. Porter's DD
214 indicates that he was awarded this badge November 17, 1950

and he therefore met the following requirements.³

COMBAT INFANTRY BADGE

a. Eligibility requirements

(1) An individual must be an infantry officer in the grade of colonel or below, or an enlisted man or a warrant officer with infantry MOS, who subsequent to 6 December 1941 has satisfactorily performed duty while assigned or attached as a member of an infantry unit of brigade, regimental, or smaller size during any period such unit was engaged in active ground combat. Battle participation credit alone is not sufficient; the unit must have been in active ground combat with the enemy

²From: <u>Guide for the Preparation and Submission of Post</u>

<u>Traumatic Stress Disorder Research Requests</u>, (P.68)(undated) U.S.

Army and Joint Services Environmental Support Group, 1230 K

Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20006-3868 (hereafter, <u>Guide</u>).

³See Guid<u>e</u>, pp. 60, 61.

during the period. Awards may be made to assigned members of ranger infantry companies assigned or attached to tactical infantry organizations.

. . .

(4) One award of the Combat Infantryman Badge is authorized to each individual for each separate war in which the requirements prescribed have been met. Second and third awards are indicated by superimposing 1 and 2 stars respectively, centered at the top of the badge between the points of the oak wreath.⁴

At the evidentiary hearing, Lieutenant Colonel Sherman Pratt testified that, this "is a very prized medal awarded for combat infantrymen who served satisfactorily. They are not issued automatically. He could have only gotten it upon my recommendation as his commanding officer" (T. 159).

The DD-214 also indicates Mr. Porter was awarded a Purple Heart (with first cluster) on June 15, 1951. Mr. Porter was wounded in combat twice. The requirements for award of the Purple Heart are as follows:

PURPLE HEART

- a. The Purple Heart is awarded in the name of the President of the United States to any member of an Armed Force or any civilian national of the United States who, while serving under competent authority in any capacity with one of the U.S. Armed Services after 5 April 1917, has been wounded, or killed, or who has died or may hereafter die after being wounded --
- (1) In any action against an enemy of the United States;

⁴See Guid<u>e</u>, pp. 60, 61.

- (2) In any action with an opposing armed force of a foreign country in which the Armed Forces of the Untied States are or have been engaged;
- (3) While serving with friendly foreign forces engaged in an armed conflict against an opposing armed force in which the United States is not a belligerent party;
- (4) As a result of an act of any such enemy or opposing armed forces;

. . .

- A Purple Heart is authorized for the first wound suffered under conditions indicated above, but for each subsequent award an Oak Leaf Cluster shall be awarded to be worn on the medal or ribbon. Not more than one award will be made for more than one wound or injury received at the same instant or form the same missile, force, explosion, or agent. For the purpose of considering an award of this decoration, a "wound" is defined as an injury to any part of the body from an outside force or agent sustained under one or more of the conditions listed above. A physical lesion is not required, provided the concussion or other form of injury is directly due to enemy, opposing armed force, or hostile foreign force action. It is not intended that such strict interpretation of the requirement for the wound/injury to be caused by direct result of hostile action be taken which would preclude the award being made to deserving personnel. For example, in a case such as an individual injured while making a parachute landing from an aircraft that had been brought down by enemy fire, or an individual injured as a result of a vehicle accident caused by enemy fire, the decision will be made in favor of the individual and the award will be made.
- (c) A wound for which the award is made must have required treatment by a medical officer, and records of medical treatment for wounds or injuries received in action as

described above must been made a matter of official record. 5

The DD-214 also specifically sets out what the purple hearts awarded to Mr. Porter were for:

- 22 September 50, Bullet wound left leg
- 15 February 51, Pos Fracture Left wrist

Further investigation of this one document indicates that while Mr. Porter lost 365 days due to legal problems in the service, his additional total service for the three years, two months and twenty-one days is reflected in his "Honorable" discharge. Despite the lost time for AWOL (after serving in combat), Mr. Porter was still recommended for the Good Conduct Medal and other honors.

On November 20, 1953, Mr. Porter's records reflect that he was <u>favorably</u> considered for the Good Conduct Medal. This was his last day in the service and the medal has yet to be awarded. The Good Conduct Medal is awarded for persons whose conduct over a three-year period reflected no major disciplinary problems.

Mr. Porter's records further indicate that he is "entitled to award of (the) Korean Presidential Unit Citation" as of January 8, 1951. Following are the reasons for awarding this honor:

⁵ See Guide, pp. 54, 55.

UNIT LEVEL DECORATIONS DENOTING COMBAT PARTICIPATION

PRESIDENTIAL UNIT CITATION

(Army)

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