# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GEORGE PORTER, JR.,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. 88,562

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Assistant Attorney General Fla. Bar #0998818 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

(TR328-331). Those findings of fact are supported by competent substantial evidence, are not an abuse of discretion and should be affirmed in all respects.

In connection with this claim, Porter argues at length that he lacked the mental capacity to waive counsel, and suggests that the wrong standard of competency was utilized. This sub-claim fails

because it is based upon a claim that is procedurally barred, as the trial court found. (TR333). Moreover, to the extent that Porter asserts that a higher standard of competency applies in a waiver of counsel situation, that claim fails under binding precedent. In Godinez v. Moran, 509 U.S. 389, 113 S. Ct. 2680, 125 L.Ed.2d 321 (1993), the United States Supreme Court clearly held that the standard for determining competency to stand trial and competency to waive counsel are the same insofar as the required level of mental functioning is concerned<sup>18</sup>. This claim is based upon an invalid legal premise, and deserves no further attention.

#### C. THE FARETTA COMPONENT

On pages 57-66 of his brief, Porter argues that an inadequate Faretta hearing was conducted, and that he was "incompetent" to waive his right to counsel. According to Porter, the Circuit Court erred by not conducting an evidentiary hearing on this claim. This claim has no legal basis for the reasons set out below.

Under settled Florida law, allegations that the trial court failed to conduct a proper *Faretta* inquiry must be raised, if at all, on direct appeal from the conviction and sentence. *Bundy v. State*, 497 So.2d 1209 (Fla. 1986). The lower court imposed that settled procedural bar, and denied relief on that basis. (TR332). That disposition is in accord with settled law, and should be affirmed in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>The United States Supreme Court expressly reversed the Ninth Circuit's *Moran v. Godinez*, 972 F.2d 263 (9th Cir. 1992) decision on which Porter relies. *See, Initial Brief*, at 61.

all respects. There is nothing upon which an evidentiary hearing could have been conducted, and any argument to the contrary has no legal basis.

To the extent that further discussion is necessary, the Circuit Court made the following, alternative findings:

Furthermore, this claim lacks merit. The record is replete inquiries by the trial court concerning Defendant's waiver of counsel. See Exhibit "ag", Excerpt of Transcript; and Exhibit "ah", Excerpt of Transcript. Each time the court asked a plethora of questions regarding the Defendant's background, education, and mental health; his experiences with the criminal justice system; his understanding of a defendant's right to counsel; the penalty sought by the State; the role of an attorney at trial; the dangers of self-representation; the mechanism issuing subpoenas and filing motions; and procedures for making opening and closing statements and examining witnesses. The record reflects that the exchange between the trial court and the Defendant did not consist of pro forma questions and pro forma answers. Based on these repeated inquiries, the trial court found the Defendant was freely, voluntarily and intelligently exercising his right of self-representation. See Exhibit "ag", Excerpt of Transcript; and Exhibit "ah", Excerpt of Transcript.

(TR332-333). Those findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, are not an abuse of discretion, and are an additional basis for the denial of relief on this claim.

#### D & E. THE AKE/INEFFECTIVENESS CLAIMS

On pages 66-75 of his brief, Porter claims that he is entitled to a hearing on his claims that the mental health experts who evaluated him did not conduct adequate evaluations, and that trial counsel was ineffective in connection with the mental state issues. These claims fail for the reasons set out below.

The lower court found that the pre-trial mental state evaluations were adequate based upon the files and records of the case. (TR334-36). This issue has been briefed in connection with sub-claim B, above, and is unworthy of repetition here. This claim was properly resolved without a hearing.

To the extent that Porter's claim is one of ineffective assistance of counsel, that claim collapses because Porter represented himself and ultimately pleaded guilty. As the lower court found, Porter knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to counsel, and "was the architect of his defense at trial." Goode v. State, 403 So.2d 931, 903 (Fla. 1981). In a very real sense, Porter's argument proves too much -- he sought and received the right to represent himself at trial. He cannot seek to exercise his right to self representation, and, upon conviction, allege that "counsel" was ineffective. Such an argument makes no sense<sup>19</sup>. Porter was competent to waive counsel, and that is the end of the inquiry. There is nothing contained within this "claim" upon which an evidentiary hearing could be conducted -- the lower court should be affirmed in all respects.

#### V. THE NON-STATUTORY AGGRAVATION CLAIM<sup>20</sup>

 $<sup>^{19}{\</sup>rm The}$  adage to "be careful what you wish for because you might get it" comes to mind. Porter got what he wanted, and he cannot now attempt to transform those express requests into a basis for relief of some sort.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>This claim is numbered "VI" in Porter's brief. That is apparently a typographical error. The State has re-numbered this issue as "V", which is the next consecutive heading.

On Pages 75-76 of his brief, Porter argues that he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claim that the sentencing judge erroneously relied on "non-statutory aggravation" in imposing a sentence of death. This claim was properly decided by the trial court, and the denial of relief should not be disturbed.

In ruling on this claim, the trial court stated:

[t]he Defendant contends that the State relied on nonstatutory aggravating factors in arguing for the death penalty. Specifically, the Defendant contends that the trial court in its sentencing order relied on the time the murders occurred, the path of the bullet through the body of Evelyn Williams and the number of shots fired in imposing the death penalty.

A claim that nonstatutory aggravating circumstances were improperly introduced is an issued which could or should have been raised on direct appeal. Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d at 1257-1258; Brown v. State, 596 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1992); Scott v. Dugger, 604 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1992); Remeta v. Dugger, 622 So.2d 452 (Fla. 1993).

Furthermore, the Defendant's contention is without merit. The nonstatutory aggravating factor claimed by the Defendant are merely the facts surrounding the murders and those facts relied upon by the trial court in finding that the murder of Evelyn Williams was especially wicked, evil, atrocious or cruel. (TR 342).

As the Circuit Court found, this claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal. That is a procedural bar under settled Florida law. See e.g., Remeta v. State, 622 So.2d 452 (Fla. 1992). Moreover, as the alternative finding of the trial court makes clear, what Porter attempts to make into a "non-statutory aggravator" is, in reality, merely the true facts surrounding murders and the facts upon which the sentencing court relied in finding the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator.

(TR342). Porter should not be heard to complain because the true facts of his handiwork were contained within the sentencing order. Of course, "[m]urder is a grisly affair" Jeffers v. Rickets, 832 F.2d 476, 484 (9th Cir. 1987), rev'd sub nom, Lewis v. Jeffers, 497 U.S. 764 (1990) -- there is no legal or factual basis supporting this claim, and the circuit court should be affirmed in all respects.

# VI. THE PENALTY PHASE JURY INSTRUCTION CLAIM

On pages 76-77 of his brief, Porter argues that the penalty phase jury instructions "shifted the burden" to Porter to prove that death was not the proper sentence, and that the trial court "employed a presumption of death" when it imposed sentence. This claim is procedurally barred and, alternatively, meritless.

In deciding this claim against Porter, the trial court stated:
...The trial court instructed the jury as follows:

However, it is your duty to follow the law that will be now given to you by the Court and render to the Court an advisory sentence, or sentences in this case, based on your determination as to whether sufficient aggravating circumstances exist to justify the imposition of the death penalty and whether sufficient mitigating circumstances exist to outweigh any aggravating circumstances found to exist.

See Exhibit "am", Excerpt of Transcript. The Defendant claims that the trial court employed a presumption of death.

This is the standard jury instruction which has been approved by both the state and federal courts. See Stewart v. State, 549 So.2d 171 (Fla. 1989), cert. denied, 497 U.S. 1031, 110 S. Ct. 3294, 112 L.Ed.2d 1599 (1990); Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 497 U.S. 1031, 110 S.Ct. 3296, 111 L.Ed.2d 804 (1990). Moreover, this issue could or should have been raised on

direct appeal. Engle v. Dugger, 576 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1991); Byrd v. State, 597 So.2d 252 (Fla. 1992); Koon v. Dugger, 619 So.2d 246 (Fla. 1993); Garcia v. State, 622 So.2d 1325 (Fla. 1993). Therefore, this claim is procedurally barred.

(TR343)

The trial court's disposition of this claim on alternative procedural bar and no merit grounds is in accord with settled Florida law, and should be affirmed in all respects. To the extent that Porter includes an ineffective assistance of counsel component to this claim, the law is settled that a merits claim cannot be recast as one of ineffective assistance of counsel, *Medina v. State*, 573 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1990), and, further, counsel is not ineffective for not objecting to a standard jury instruction, which is the case here. *Harvey v. Dugger*, 656 So.2d 1253, 1258 (Fla. 1995). There is no basis for relief, nor is there any basis for an evidentiary hearing.

#### VII. THE OVERBROAD AGGRAVATORS CLAIM

On pages 78-84 of his brief, Porter argues that the jury instructions on every aggravator submitted to the jury were "overbroadly and vaguely argued and applied". This claim is not a basis for relief (in the form of an evidentiary hearing, presumably) for the reasons set out below.

The first reason that this claim is not a basis for relief is because, as the trial court found (TR347), it is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised at trial or on direct appeal. See, e.g., Archer v. State, 673 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1996); Walls v. State, 641 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1994); Johnson v. State, 593 So.2d 206

(Fla. 1992). That is a sufficient basis for denial of relief.

To the extent that further discussion of this claim is necessary, whatever may be said about the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance jury instruction, this Court struck that aggravator on direct appeal. *Porter v. State*, 564 So.2d at 1063. This Court did, however, go on to find that death was still the proper sentence. *Id.*, at 1064-65. Insofar as the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravator is concerned, this Court found:

However, the state did meet its burden in proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated or premeditated manner without any moral or legal justification. Sec. 921.141(5)(i), Fla. Stat. (1985). To avoid arbitrary and capricious punishment, this aggravating circumstance "must genuinely narrow the class of persons eligible for the death penalty and must reasonably justify the imposition of a more severe sentence on the defendant compared to others found guilty of murder." Zant v. Stephens, 462 U.S. 862, 877, 103 S.Ct. 2733, 2742, 77 L.Ed.2d 235 (1983) (footnote omitted). Since premeditation already is an element of capital murder in Florida, [footnote omitted] section 921.141(5)(i) must have a different meaning; otherwise, it would apply to premeditated murder. Therefore, 921.141(5)(i) must apply to murders more cold-blooded, more ruthless, and more plotting thank the ordinarily reprehensible crime of premeditated first-degree murder. [footnote omitted].

The Court has adopted the phrase "heightened premeditation" to distinguish this aggravating circumstance from the premeditation element of first-degree murder. See, e.g., Hamblen v. State, 527 So.2d 800, 805 (Fla. 1998); Rogers v. State, 511 So.2d 526, 533 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020, 108 S.Ct. 733, 98 L.Ed.2d 681 (1988). Heightened premeditation can be demonstrated by the manner of the killing, but the evidence must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant planned or arranged to commit murder before the crime began. Hamblen, 527 So.2d at 805; Rogers, 511 So.2d at 533. See, e.g., Koon v.

State, 513 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 943, 108 S.Ct. 1124, 99 L.Ed.2d 284 (1988). Hamblen and Rogers show that heightened premeditation does not apply when a perpetrator intends to commit an armed robbery of a store but ends up killing the store clerk in the process. Nor does it apply when a killing occurs during a fit of rage because "rage is inconsistent with the premeditated intent to kill someone," unless there is other evidence to prove heightened premeditation beyond a reasonable doubt. Mitchell v. State, 527 So.2d 179, 182 (Fla.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 960, 109 S.Ct. 404, 102 L.Ed.2d 392 (1988).

This is not a case involving a sudden fit of rage. Porter previously had threatened to kill Williams and her daughter. He watched Williams' house for two days just before the murders. Apparently he stole a gun from a friend just to kill Williams. Then he told another friend that she would be reading about him in the newspaper. While Porter's motivation may have been grounded in passion, it is clear that he contemplated this murder well in advance.

Porter v. State, 564 So.2d at 1063-64. Those findings by this Court are more than sufficient to establish that this murder was cold, calculated and premeditated no matter how that aggravator is defined. See, Archer, supra; Walls, supra.

To the extent that Porter complains because the jury was "not told that the" during the comission of a burglary aggravator was insufficient by itself to support a sentence of death, that claim is alternatively procedurally barred and meritless, as the trial court found. (TR346-7). No component of this claim is sufficient to state a basis for an evidentiary hearing or any other relief.

# VIII. THE AUTOMATIC AGGRAVATOR CLAIM

On pages 85-86 of his brief, Porter argues that his case should be remanded to the trial court for that court to consider the merits of his claim that his death sentence rests on an "automatic"

aggravator. Porter is not entitled to relief of any sort for the reasons set out below.

The first reason that Porter is not entitled to relief is because this claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal. That is a procedural bar under settled Florida law. See, Garcia v. State, 622 So.2d 1325, 1326 (Fla. 1993); Roberts v. State, 568 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1990); Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d 316 (Fla. 1991).

The second reason that Porter is not entitled to relief on this claim is because the claim has no merit. Hudson v. State, 708 So.2d 256 (Fla. 1998); Blanco v. State, 706 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1997); Orme v. State, 677 So.2d 258 (Fla. 1996); Mills v. State, 476 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1985); Clark v. State, 443 So.2d 973 (Fla. 1983).

### IX. THE FAILURE TO FIND MITIGATION CLAIM

On page 87 of his brief, Porter argues that certain matters should have been but were not found as mitigation by the sentencing court. As the Circuit Court found, this claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised on direct appeal. (TR352). That is a procedural bar under settled law. See, Johnston v. Dugger, 583 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1991); Jennings v. State, 583 So.2d 316 (Fla. 1991); Engle v. Dugger, 576 So.2d 696 (Fla. 1991); Correll v. Dugger, 559 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1990). Porter is not entitled to relief, and the trial court should be affirmed in all respects.

#### X. THE PROSECUTORIAL ARGUMENT CLAIM

On pages 88-90 of his brief, Porter argues that he is entitled to relief based upon "inflammatory and improper comments and arguments" on the part of the prosecutor. As the Circuit Court found, this claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised at trial or on direct appeal. (TR352-53). That is a procedural bar under settled law. Van Poyck v. State, 694 So.2d 636, (Fla. 1997); Medina v. State, 573 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1990); Correll, supra. Porter is not entitled to relief on this claim.

## CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments and authorities, the Circuit Court's denial of Porter's Rule 3.850 motion should be affirmed in all respects.